IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD LENNETH BANKS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC08-1741

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 271543 301 S. MONROE ST., SUITE 401 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 606-8517

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a capital case. DONALD LENNETH BANKS, was the defendant in the trial court and will be referred to in this brief as either "appellant," "defendant," or by his proper name.

References to the seventeen volumes of the Record on Appeal will be by the volume number in Arabic numbers followed by the appropriate page number, all in parentheses.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Duval County on December 15, 2005, charged Donald Banks with one count of first-degree murder and robbery with a knife (1 R 18). The State also filed a notice that if Banks were convicted of the murder it would seek imposition of a death sentence (1 R 30). Finally, it filed a notice that it intended to introduce evidence of "other crimes, wrongs, or acts" Banks had allegedly committed (4 R 591).

Banks filed several guilt or penalty phase motions that are relevant to this appeal:

1. Motion to prevent introduction of evidence of the "other crimes, wrongs or acts" the State intended to prove at trial (5 R 801). Denied (5 R 803).

2. Motion for individual and sequestered voir dire, for evidentiary hearing and to tax costs (4 R 612-17). Denied (7 R 1273).

3. Motion to prevent introduction of videotape of a prior felony Banks had committed (5 R 843). Denied (5 R 845).

Banks proceeded to trial before Judge Hugh Carithers on only the murder charge, and the jury, after hearing the evidence, arguments, and instructions on the law, found the defendant guilty of that offense (5 R 832).

He proceeded to the penalty phase. Both sides presented additional evidence.

The jury after it had heard this evidence, arguments, and further instructions,

recommended, by a vote of 10-2, that the court impose a death sentence on Banks (5 R

855). The jury also answered a special interrogatory that beyond a reasonable doubt

they had concluded that the defendant played a significant role in the homicide of the

victim (5 R 848).

The court followed that recommendation and sentenced the defendant to death.

Justifying that punishment, it found that he first qualified for a death sentence

because he had a substantial involvement in the murder (6 R 994). It then found in

aggravation that:

1. Banks had been previously convicted of a violent felony.

2. The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

3. The murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

(6 R 994-98).

The court found in mitigation that the defendant:

- 1. Has a low IQ.
- 2. Has a deficit in his brain.
- 3. Has anti-social personality traits.
- 4. Was not the only participant in the murder.
- 5. Had a difficult youth.

(6 R 999-1000)

Banks filed a motion for a new trial and supplemental motion for a new trial (5

R 832, 857), which the court denied (5 R 834, 858).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Sometime during the day of March 10, 2005 a car belonging to Linda Volum was involved in a hit and run accident in Jacksonville (9 R 254). Four black men were in the car, and they fled after the crash (9 R 261). The police determined that Volum owned the vehicle, and when a sheriff's deputy went to her house he found her nude body lying on the bedroom floor (9 R 256). She had been stabbed fourteen times¹. Many of the wounds were superficial (10 R 542), but she had two or three fatal ones to the heart, one to her lung, and one potentially fatal one to her liver (10 R 558, 562).² Some of the cuts showed she had tried to defend herself (10 R 552). She had a .20 percent blood alcohol content, and the medical examiner detected a small amount of cocaine in her blood as well (10 R 563, 572). She had died between midnight and 4 a.m. (10 R 558).

Without any dispute, Donald Banks knew Volum, and had been to her house many times. As it turned out Banks sold crack cocaine, and she was one of his customers (11 R 630). As often happens, however, she had problems paying for the drugs. She frequently pawned her laptop computer or gave it or jewelry to Banks (11 R 634-35). Occasionally she traded sex for cocaine (11 R 632). She also let him use

¹ When the police moved her body, they found a knife and a "crack pipe" underneath it (9 R 288-89).

² Ms. Volum's liver was severely damaged from her chronic alcoholism (10 R 569).

her house from which he sold drugs, and this meant that people would come there at "all hours of the night." (9 R 270, 273; 11 R 631, 632) He also used her car (11 R 638).

In particular, on the night of the murder, Banks was at Volum's house. Both of them were drunk and/or high, and during the evening he cut three or four of his fingers on the crack pipe the police found underneath her (11 R 640-42, 668).³ He used a towel to staunch the blood, and he eventually put band aids on the wound (11 R 642). He also had cut his leg two, three, or four days earlier, for which he eventually had to have professionally taken care of (11 R 642, 682-84).

On the night of the murder Banks was at Volum's house selling drugs (11 R 641), and during that time Volum and Banks had sex two or three times (11 R 641). ⁴ Business apparently went well because in the early morning hours of March 10, he had to get some more cocaine from his supplier-a man known only as "Bo"- on the northside of Jacksonville (11 R 644). Bo, however, showed up at Volum's house,⁵ and some time later he and Banks left. Volum let him use her car, and she gave him her debit card so he could get some money for her (11 R 644, 655, 665).⁶ When he

³ Blood was found on the crack pipe, but the police never had it analyzed (9 R 330).

⁴ Banks had difficulty remembering what happened because he was, as he admitted, "high" that evening (11 R 637)

⁵ Volum knew Bo, and he had been at her house at least twice before March 10 (11 R 646-46).

⁶ She was too drunk to go herself (11 R 647).

repeatedly tried to use it, however, the various ATMs denied him access to her account (9 R 259).⁷

The two men returned to Volum's house some time later, and Banks sold some more cocaine. Eventually, he walked home, leaving Volum alone with Bo (11 R 646). To pay for the drugs Banks had given her, she put her computer in a pillowcase and gave or "loaned" it to him (11 R 650).

According to Sudi Johnson, his girlfriend, Banks arrived home driving a small compact car (9 R 351). He gave the computer to her, and when he pulled it out of the pillowcase she saw some bloodied clothes underneath (9 R 353).⁸ When asked about them he said "I just murked somebody," which is slang for he had just murdered someone (9 R 353). He also told her that he had gone into Volum's house wearing only his underclothes, and he used a crack pipe as a prop to lead the police to think the murder was drug related (9 R 360-61).

Later, a local television station reported the murder, Banks saw it, turned to Johnson, and said "I did that." (9 R 358) When asked how he had done it, he said he had put the victim in a "choker hold" and then stabbed her from behind. During the

⁷ Apparently, the ATMs denied Banks because Volum had no money or insufficient funds in her account (11 R 666).

⁸ They were boxer shorts and a white T shirt (9 R 354).

killing, he missed one time and cut himself, and indeed when he came home he was limping, and his leg was bleeding (9 R 355, 359).⁹

Reluctant to believe Banks (9 R 361), Johnson waited two weeks before she called the police (10 R 579), who eventually arrested him (10 R 583).

When she asked him why he had killed Volum, the defendant said it was "a murder pay-back." (9 R 359). At trial he denied saying that or that he had killed her, and he attributed Johnson's testimony to his treating her "wrong." That is, he had given her no money (11 R 677-78).¹⁰

⁹ He later went to a hospital for it to be treated (9 R 358).

¹⁰ At trial, Banks said Johnson lied that he had told her that he had killed Volum. She did that, he said, because "It's a money thing." That is, he owed her money or rather he "I'm not giving her the money she wanted." (11 R 654)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I. Prospective juror Constantio said that his daughter with whom he lived had been robbed at gunpoint about 6 weeks before Banks' trial. The court refused to excuse him for cause, and that forced the defendant to peremptorily challenge him. He should not have had to do that because there was a reasonable possibility that Mr. Constantino could not be fair and impartial not only in determining the defendant's guilt or innocence but whether he should be sentenced to death. Recent violent crimes committed against one's child naturally raise the specter that verdicts of guilt and death have been tainted by the concerns for that loved one and anger at those who had committed the violent assault against him or her.

ISSUE II. The State peremptorily challenged Mr. Laws and Mr. Ford (who were African Americans) because they were single and rented. The court, without any assessment of that reason for excusing them, summarily allowed the challenges to stand. That was error because they were not race neutral, and they were pretextual. That is, the State never said why being single and renting a house had any significance on who should decide the defendant's fate. That failing explains, in part, the court's error when it did not analyze the totality of the circumstances to determine if the reasons the state gave were pretextual or not genuine.

ISSUE III. At trial the State presented evidence that several pieces of evidence taken from the scene of the murder matched Banks' DNA. It did not,

however, present any statistical evidence to give that evidence meaning. That failure clearly violated this Court's decisions in <u>Brim v. State</u>, 695 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1997) and <u>Butler v. State</u>, 842 So.2d 817 (Fla. 2003), which require this "second step" in order for the jury to consider testimony that the evidence matched the defendant's DNA.

ISSUE IV. During cross-examination of Sudie Johnson, the State's key witness, counsel asked her questions about her delay in telling the police that Banks had admitted killing Volum. Specifically he asked "[Did you] change your mind because you found out that he and Ms. Volum had sex? To this leading question, she responded "No, that wasn't the reason. The reason was from the previous - - I supported Mr. Banks all the way up until I seen the tape of him stabbing Mr. William Johnson from the first --." The trial court denied Banks' motion for mistrial, finding that the defendant had invited her response. That was error because his leading question prompted only a yes or no answer, and it was not a direct or fair response to what he had asked. What Ms. Johnson said was volunteered and unresponsive to the question asked.

ISSUE V. During the penalty phase, the State presented a video showing Banks stabbing Mr. William Johnson, ostensibly to show the details of the crimes involved in that incident in support of the aggravator that he had prior convictions for violent felonies. Although this evidence may have had some relevance, its prejudicial value significantly outweighed whatever relevance it may have had. This type of

visual exhibit, especially when it showed a violent crime, has a peculiarly strong tendency to inflame juries, and in this it case should have been excluded. This is particularly true because the State had other evidence that could have accomplished the same goal as the video.

ISSUE VI. In justifying sentencing Banks to death the court found the murder to have been cold, calculated, and premeditated without any pretense of moral or legal justification. It supported that conclusion by relying on his admission that he had killed Linda Volum as a "murder pay back," and he had taken off his clothes before killing her. Those facts may show the murder to have been calculated and premeditated, as this Court has defined those terms, but the evidence fails to show the murder was also, and necessarily, cold. The facts show this to have been a frenzied attack, as evidenced by Banks stabbing himself. He was also high on cocaine on the night of the murder. The evidence, thus, fails to show calm reflection on his part, which means he did not coolly commit the murder.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I:

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT BANK'S CAUSE CHALLENGE TO PROSPECTIVE JUROR CONSTANTINO WHICH FORCED HIM TO USE A PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE TO KEEP HIM OFF HIS JURY, A VIOLATION OF HIS FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

During voir dire, Banks sought to excuse a Mr. Constantino because of his inability to render an impartial verdict as required by the law of this State. Singleton v. State, 783 So.2d 970, 973 (Fla. 2001). The court refused to allow that cause challenge (8 R 190), and that, in turn, forced the defendant to use one of the 10 peremptorily challenges given him to keep this prospective juror off his jury (8 R 198). As a result, he later exhausted them, requested more, and specifically identified those members of the venire he would have excused (8 R 199). The trial court, rather than granting any extra challenges, denied that request (8 R 200). He also told the court after the jury had been selected that he "did not accept the jury as it's composed, based on our objections and our request for the additional peremptory." (9 R 216). Banks, thus, has clearly preserved this issue for review. Trotter v. State, 576 So.2d 691, 693 (Fla. 1990). Busby v. State, 894 So.2d 88 (Fla. 2005). Indeed, although this Court reviews these type of issues for an abuse of discretion, Pentecost v. State, 545 So.2d 861 (Fla. 1989),¹¹ the defendant's persistence in satisfying every

¹¹In <u>Salgado v. State</u>, 829 So.2d 342, 344-45 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2002), the Third District recognized that issues of juror competence raised a question of mixed law

demand this Court has required to preserve his objection to Constantino should

prompt it to give much closer scrutiny of what the trial court did than it might do for

other alleged trial errors.

When questioned, Mr. Constantino, revealed that his daughter with whom he

lived had been robbed at gunpoint a month and a half before trial. When the court

asked if "anything around you in your life has happened that might affect your ability

to be fair in this case," (8 R 91) Mr. Constantino, replied:

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: Yeah, my daughter was held up at gunpoint and robbed. THE COURT: Was she living with you at the time. PROSPECTIVE JUROR: Yes—well, no, I'm living with her right now. I'm retired so— THE COURT: You were sharing a residence. PROSPECTIVE JUROR: Yes, sir. THE COURT: So this obviously had a lot of impact on you. PROSPECTIVE JUROR: Yeah. THE COURT: How long ago was that? PROSPECTIVE JUROR: About a month and a half. THE COURT: Okay. It's recent. Have they arrested the person? PROSPECTIVE JUROR: No, haven't heard. Don't know. THE COURT: How might that affect you in PROSPECTIVE JUROR: It's won't affect me, no sir.

(8 R 92-93)

and fact. Accordingly, this Court must give the trial court's evaluation of the facts the due deference implied by an abuse of discretion standard, but it is free to reach its only conclusion about what those facts legally mean.

Banks later sought to excuse Mr. Constantino for cause, but the court denied that challenge:

MR. ELER[Defense counsel]: NO. 32, Mr. Constantino, No. 32, daughter was held up and robbed about a month and a half ago and he initially started (sic) I hope I can, I can, he did say that, but again, for the same grounds as Ms. Jackson,¹² Judge, the relative and close in time frame, the fact he's got a daughter may be around the victim's age in this case, I'd move for cause on him.

MR. MIZRAHI[the prosecutor]: I have the same objection. THE COURT: All right. That challenge is denied.

(8 R 190)

As mentioned, Banks moved to excuse Mr. Constantino for cause, but the

prosecutor objected and the court denied the challenge (8 R 190).¹³

The jury system of justice traces its roots back three quarters of a millennium

to a time when those chosen to determine an accused's guilt or innocence had

knowledge of the facts of the case. Stephen Landsman, "A Brief Survey of the

Development of the Adversary System," 44 Ohio St. L. J., 713, 722 n. 17 (1983);

¹² Ms Jackson told the court told the court that "My God-brother was brutally murdered on April 19, one month ago tomorrow." (8 R 93). Banks sought to have her excused for cause, but State objected, noting that it saw no reason to strike her for cause. The court denied the challenge (8 R 189). The correctness of that ruling is not an issue on appeal because a jury was selected before her name came up during the use of peremptory challenges.

¹³ In <u>Busby</u>, cited above, this Court specifically rejected the argument that a defendant had to show an objectionable juror actually served. Once the defendant has met the requirements of <u>Trotter</u>, and shown that he had to improperly use a peremptory challenge on a prospective juror who should have been excused for cause a Sixth Amendment violation of his right to a fair and impartial jury has been established.

Ellen S. Sward, "Values, Ideology, and the Evolution of the Adversary System," 64 Ind. L. J., 303, 322 n. 16 (1999). That approach worked, perhaps, in small communities where everyone knew everyone and everyone minded his neighbor's business. It collapsed, however, as society evolved and became larger and more complex, and it did so for obvious reasons. One juror may know the "facts" but others did not. Hence, his recollection, correct or not (because there was no way to measure its accuracy) would tend to become the "facts" on which the rest of the jury based its verdict. Confidence in the results, thus, ebbed. Hence, over the last two hundred years, at least, the American justice system has moved toward the ideal that the jury should know nothing about the facts of the crime the State has charged the defendant with committing. Landsman, cited above, at 713. The court, utilizing the rules of evidence, "filters" the evidence every juror hears so that when they deliberate, they all have the same facts on which to reach a just verdict. Thus, jurors who are relatives of the defendant or the victim, are routinely excused from serving on the jury, as are others who might have first hand knowledge of the facts of a case.

Yet, this "sanitizing" goes beyond excluding those prospective jurors who might know the facts of a case. It extends to those who might have some bias or prejudice for or against the victim or the defendant. For example, Mothers Against Drunk Driving would naturally have a difficult time passing on the guilt or innocence of a person charged with driving while intoxicated. Our system of justice has moved

so far from the early forms that it now rests on the unchallenged prerequisite of juror impartiality. <u>Carratelli v. State</u>, 832 So.2d 850 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). Hence, a court should excuse a prospective juror if "there is <u>any</u> reasonable doubt about the juror's ability to rend an impartial verdict." <u>Singleton</u>, cited above. (Emphasis added.) A court should excuse a member of the venire if there is reasonable doubt about his or her impartiality, not only as to guilt, but in a capital case as to the appropriate sentence of life or death.

In this case, there is no evidence Mr. Constantino had any knowledge of the facts of this case. The problem arises from the obvious and understandable emotional impact his daughter's violent encounter had on him. That the robbery had taken place in the recent past only emphasizes the legitimate concern the court should have had about this member of the venire. After all the proverb or truism that "Time heals all wounds," does not quite apply when the event is a crime of violence that had happened in the very recent past. And its effects linger longer when the violence happens to a loved one, and particularly one's child. Indeed, the robbery's effect may very well have waned by the time of Banks' trial if <u>Mr. Constantino</u> had been robbed, but when one of our children is violently assaulted, the fear lingers. The closer the emotional ties the greater the likelihood a reasonable doubt exists that the prospective juror, despite assurances of impartiality, will harbor some fear or anger at the

defendant. <u>Rodriquez v. State</u>, 806 So.2d 559 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2002)(Assurances of impartiality does not remove the taint of earlier comments.)

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