IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD BANKS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC08-1741

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida (850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Banks also made no objection to the successful challenge against Ford and Laws on the grounds the trial court failed to explicitly find the State's proffered reasons for the two strikes were genuine. (TR Vol. VIII 191-198).

Before this Court now, Banks claims two errors entitle him to a new trial. First, that the prosecutor did not offer a valid race neutral reason for excusing Mr. Ford and Mr. Laws. Banks avers that to be race neutral, the State must establish a logical link between the strike and the facts of the case. According to Banks, the State show this only may by demonstrating some nexus between the defendant or the crime charged and the type of juror the State seeks to include or (IB 24).¹² Second, Banks claims the trial judge erred exclude. when he failed to make a specific finding that the State's offered reasons were genuine and to articulate his reasons for doing so. (IB 29).

¹² Banks seems to "smush" step two and step three together in making this argument. On one hand, Banks avers that in order to defeat any claim of pretext, the proponent must provide some logical nexus between the reason given and the facts of the case. (IB 23). Pretext is part of a step three analysis under <u>Melbourne v. State</u>, 679 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 1996). On the other hand, Banks alleges that by failing to provide a connection between the State's challenge against Mr. Laws and Mr. Ford, the State failed to meet Melbourne's second step and articulate a facially race neutral reason for a strike against a member of a protected class. (IB 28).

The standard of review is clearly erroneous. In reviewing a claim such as the one Banks makes here, this Court presumes that peremptory challenges are exercised in a nondiscriminatory manner. Additionally, because the trial court's decision turns primarily on an assessment of credibility, this Court will affirm unless the trial judge's decision to grant the strike is clearly erroneous. <u>Murray v. State</u>, 3 So. 3d 1108, 1120 (Fla. 2009).

In Florida, both jurors and litigants have a right to jury selection procedures that are free from discrimination. Welch v. State, 992 So. 2d 206, 211 (Fla. 2008) (citing Abshire v. State, 642 So. 2d 542, 544 (Fla. 1994)). This Court has established a process for resolving an allegation that a party is exercising peremptory challenges in a discriminatory manner. In Melbourne v. State, 679 So. 2d 759, 764 (Fla. 1996), this Court determined that a trial court must go through a three step process to allegation of discrimination during the resolve an jury selection process: (1) A party objecting to the other side's use of a peremptory challenge on racial grounds must make a timely objection, identify the venireperson as a member of a distinct racial group and request the court to direct the challenger to

offer a race neutral reason for the strike; (2) the court must ask the proponent of the strike to explain the reason for the strike and the proponent must come forward with a race-neutral explanation; and (3) if the reason is facially race neutral and the trial court believes that, given all the circumstances surrounding the strike, the explanation is not a pretext, the strike will be sustained. Id.

In step three, the trial judge focuses on the genuineness of the race-neutral explanation as opposed to its reasonableness. Farina v. State, 801 So. 2d 44, 49 (Fla. 2001). In making a genuineness determination, the court may consider all relevant circumstances surrounding the strike. This Court has determined that relevant circumstances include, but are not limited to, the racial make-up of the venire; prior strikes exercised against the same racial group; a strike based on a reason equally applicable to an unchallenged juror; or singling the juror out for special treatment. Murray v. State, 3 So. 3d 1108, 1120 (Fla. 2009).

This claim should be denied for two reasons. First, being single and a renter is a facially race neutral reason for a peremptory strike. Second, although the trial court did not use the magic words, "I find the prosecutor's race neutral reason

genuine", the record supports a conclusion the trial court found the proffered reasons were genuine, and not a pretext for discrimination, when he allowed the challenge to stand.

Banks is mistaken when he alleges that in order to satisfy step two of Melbourne, the prosecutor's offered reason for a peremptory strike must have a logical connection to the case at Even today, a prosecutor may exercise an available hand. peremptory challenge against a prospective juror for any nondiscriminatory reason whatsoever, whether the reason be reasonable or wholly illogical. For instance, a prosecutor may strike a venireman who wears an orange tie with a yellow shirt, has long hair, or prefers vanilla ice cream to chocolate.¹³ The only requirement a prosecutor must satisfy to meet step two of the Melbourne test is that his offered reason is facially race neutral. Hoskins v. State, 965 So. 2d 1, 7 (Fla. 2007).

In this case, the prosecutor's offered reasons for his strike against Mr. Ford was that he was young, single, rented, and seemed not to be paying attention during a portion of the prosecutor's voir dire. The proffered reasons to strike Mr.

¹³ Of course, illogical reasons such as the prospective juror prefers vanilla ice cream to chocolate may cause the trial judge to find, in step three, the stated reason was not genuine but was, instead, a pretext for discrimination. Nonetheless, such a reason, illogical or not, constitutes a facially race neutral reason.

Laws were that, like Mr. Ford, he was single and rented. All of these reasons were facially race neutral. Because these strikes were facially race neutral, the trial judge did not err in moving to step three of the <u>Melbourne</u> test and ultimately to sustain the strikes.

Banks is correct that the trial judge may properly consider whether the prosecutor's offered reason for the strike is logically connected to the case at hand. However, this analysis comes in <u>Melbourne</u>'s third step, when the trial judge determines whether a facially race neutral reason is legitimate, that is, not a pretext for discrimination.

Banks is mistaken, however, in his claim the prosecutor must <u>always</u> show a nexus between the stricken venireman and the case at hand.¹⁴ Instead, as this Court has made clear, there are many relevant circumstances that a trial court may consider, including the racial make-up of the venire; prior strikes exercised against the same racial group; a strike based on a reason equally applicable to an unchallenged juror; or singling

¹⁴ If this Court were to accept Banks' argument in this regard, this Court would create a "per se" rule that absent a nexus between the purpose of the strike and the case, the strike is discriminatory. This Court has repeatedly ruled that it is appropriate, in Step 3 for the trial court to consider the totality of the circumstances surrounding the strike when determining whether the proffered reasons were genuine. Melbourne v. State, 679 So. 2d 759, 764 (Fla. 1996).

the juror out for special treatment. <u>Murray v. State</u>, 3 So. 3d 1108, 1120 (Fla. 2009).

In this case, the record supports a finding by this Court that the trial judge determined, albeit it with no magic words, that the prosecutor's reasons from striking Mr. Ford and Mr. Laws were genuine and not a pretext for discrimination. No specific words are required for the trial court to satisfy step three of the <u>Melbourne</u> analysis. <u>Murray v. State</u>, 3 So. 3d at 1119.

The record supports a finding the trial court was aware of, and considered, not only the racial make-up of the venire but the fact the prosecutor passed over at least two black jurors, and one Hispanic juror in exercising his allotted peremptory strikes. At one point during voir dire, the prosecutor pointed out that he had passed over a black juror, Mr. Wells, to challenge Mr. Ford. Subsequently, the trial judge noted that the prosecutor had left another black male, Mr. Matthews, on the jury. (TR Vol. VIII 193). The court also noted that Mr. Castellon was a Hispanic male. The State did not attempt to strike him from the jury. (TR Vol. VIII 193-194).

Additionally, Banks has never claimed the prosecutor failed to exercise a challenge against white veniremen similarly

situated to Mr. Ford or Laws or specifically singled out Mr. Ford or Mr. Laws for additional questioning in search of a valid reason for challenge. Indeed, the record shows that Mr. Ford and Mr. Laws were not singled out for special treatment and the prosecutor exercised five of his six peremptory challenges against members of the venire who were young, single and did not own their own home.¹⁵

The record reflects the trial judge was well aware of <u>Melbourne</u>'s third step. The prosecutor reminded the court that it must determine whether the reason for his strike was genuine or not. (TR Vol. VIII 197-198). Immediately thereafter, the trial court allowed the strike against Mr. Laws. (TR Vol. VIII 198).

The record supports a finding the trial court complied with this Court's requirements as set forth in Melbourne. The record

¹⁵ The prosecutor used only six of his ten peremptory challenges. Five were exercised against Mr. Ducote, Mr. McDonald, Mr. Walker, Mr. Ford, Mr. Laws. Mr. Ford, Mr. Laws, Mr. Ducote, Mr. McDonald, were young, single and rented. (TR Vol. VIII 106, 109, 112, 116). Mr. Walker was young, single and lived at home with his parents. (TR Vol. VIII 102).

The State also used one peremptory challenge against Mr. Rhames. The State struck Mr. Rhames because he had travel plans that conflicted with the scheduled penalty phase date. The court offered to allow the State to strike Mr. Rhames with an available peremptory challenge so they would not have to move the penalty phase "at extreme inconvenience for all of us." The prosecutor agreed to use a challenge to remove Mr. Rhames from the jury. (TR Vol. VIII 196).

also supports the trial judge's conclusions that the State's offered reasons were genuine and not a pretext for discrimination. Banks' second claim on appeal should be denied.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE DNA EVIDENCE.

In this claim, Banks avers the trial judge erred in permitting the State to introduce evidence that DNA found at the scene matched Banks' DNA. Banks claims the DNA evidence was not admissible because the State failed to present "population frequency" evidence. (IB 30-31).¹⁶ Banks points to this Court's decisions in <u>Brim v. State</u>, 695 So. 2d 268 (Fla. 1997) and Butler v. State, 842 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 2003). (IB 30).

A. Standard of Review

Banks suggests that this Court should review this claim *de novo*. (IB 31). This Court should decline Banks' invitation to apply *de novo* review to this claim. The standard of review for a trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence is an abuse of discretion. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 967 So. 2d 735, 753 (Fla. 2007).

¹⁶ Such evidence would usually be in the form of testimony to the effect of "The chance of someone else, other than the defendant, leaving the DNA found on the bloody towel found in the victim's apartment would be one in three quadrillion African-Americans."

B. Preservation

This claim is not preserved. The defendant did not make the same argument below that he makes here. <u>Harmon v. State</u>, 527 So. 2d 182, 185 (Fla. 1988) (issue of whether evidence was improperly admitted was not preserved for appeal because defendant failed to make the same objection below as raised on appeal).

Prior to trial, the defendant filed a motion in *limine* to exclude "novel scientific evidence." The defense moved to exclude the results of STR DNA testing. Banks claimed the DNA analysis was not properly conducted and the recommended protocols not followed. Banks averred that, as such, the results of the DNA should not be admitted. (TR Vol. IV 626).

Banks also moved to exclude any "population frequency statistics." (TR Vol. IV 626). Banks alleged such testimony was novel scientific evidence and, as such, must meet the <u>Frye</u> test for admissibility. (TR Vol. IV 626). Banks claimed the population frequency statistics the State intended to introduce were not admissible because they did not meet the standards for admissibility under <u>Frye</u>. Banks made no claim that STR DNA test results were not admissible unless the State also presented "population frequency" evidence. (TR Vol. IV 625-627).

The Court held two pre-trial hearings on Banks' motion in *limine* to exclude the DNA evidence. The first hearing was held on November 19, 2007.

At the hearing, the court asked whether the prosecutor intended to bring his DNA expert for a <u>Frye</u> hearing. The prosecutor responded he did not believe <u>Frye</u> testing was necessary. (TR Vol. VII 1261).

The prosecutor told the court he would lay a foundation for the admissibility of the evidence at trial. (TR Vol. VII 1261). The Court noted that standard DNA evidence was admissible. (TR Vol. VII 1262). Mr. Eler told the court that while DNA testing had been accepted in the forensic community, the State would still have to show the expert is qualified to testify and the databases they are using are not corrupted. (TR Vol. VII 1262).

Mr. Eler told the court that he believed the State should have to proffer testimony about the actual test to make sure the protocols were followed. (TR Vol. VII 1263). The Court ruled a proffer seemed unnecessary and the State could qualify the experts in front of the jury. The trial judge told defense counsel that if the defense had an objection, he would hear it then. (TR Vol. VII 1263). Banks posed no objection to the procedure. Once again, Banks did not argue that the DNA results

were inadmissible unless the State also introduced population frequency statistics.

The trial court held a second hearing on December 21, 2007. The parties briefly discussed the DNA issue. Mr. Eler told the court that he was not opposed to either proffering the population frequency evidence or taking the testimony at trial. Mr. Eler told the court that if the State failed to qualify Mr. Pollock or lay a predicate for him giving an opinion on the numbers "they're putting out there," then he would raise that objection during trial. (TR Vol. VII 1272).

Mr. Eler asked the court to reserve ruling on his motion until trial. The Court agreed to do so. (TR Vol. VII 1272). Once again, Banks did not ask the trial court to exclude any DNA evidence if the State did not introduce population frequency statistics to show the relevance of Mr. Pollock's test results.

At trial, the State called Dr. James Pollack to testify. Before Mr. Pollock testified as to the results of his testing, the defense posed an objection. The objection was "predicate." (TR Vol. X 474).

Outside the presence of the jury, Banks argued the State should be required to lay a foundation for Mr. Pollock's testimony. Trial counsel told the court, "I think they need to

establish a predicate, your Honor, regarding population statistics, regarding how they come up with their numbers and what bases they do before the actual numbers got admitted. So that's the objection." (TR Vol. X 474-475). Mr. Eler told the court, "there's two prongs, there's the analytical phase which they've gone to and they've extracted and they've got profiles and then there's the comparison to the population statistics and the databases and usually back in the old day we'd get Dr. Tracey here from Miami to argue that." (TR Vol. X 475).

The Court asked the prosecution whether they intended to elicit testimony that they have a match at all 13 loci. The State responded in the affirmative. (TR Vol. X 476). Mr. Eler told the court that "normally what they would do, Judge, and I'm anticipating the testimony is they would say, well, we run it through a computer, Pop Stats, and I'm not sure Mr. Pollock has the background for the population." (TR Vol. X 476).

The Court noted that Mr. Pollock could give statistical analysis because he had done it before. The prosecutor told the court that if he decided to ask population frequency questions, he would lay the proper predicate. (TR Vol. X 476). At no point in time, did Banks argue the DNA results were inadmissible unless the State also introduced population frequency evidence.

(TR Vol. X 474-476).

This claim is not preserved for appeal because Banks did not make the same argument below as he makes now before this Court. <u>Harmon v. State</u>, 527 So. 2d 182, 185 (Fla. 1988) (issue of whether evidence was improperly admitted was not preserved for appeal because defendant failed to make the same objection below as raised on appeal). On this basis alone, this Court should deny Banks' third claim on appeal.

C. Merits

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